74511-5

NO. 74511-5-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

ALLYIS, INC.,

and

Matthew F. Davis,

Appellants

v.

SIMPLICITY INCORPORATED,

Respondent,

and

Jeremy Schroder,

Defendant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Matthew F. Davis Bracepoint Law 2775 Harbor Ave SW, Ste D Seattle, WA 98126 (206)347-8877 mdavis@bracepointlaw.com

74511-5

I.	INTRODUCTION		
II.	ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR		
III.	ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR		
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
V.	ARGUMENT		
	A.	Standard of Review	
	B.	The Unjust Enrichment Claim Was Not Frivolous22	
	C.	Allyis' Remaining Claims Were Not Frivolous	
		1. Tortious Interference	
		2. Consumer Protection Act

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Judge Hill erred in awarding Simplicity fees under RCW
 4.84.185.

Judge Hill erred in awarding Simplicity sanctions under CR
 11.

Judge Hill erred in making Findings of Fact 4, 7, 8, 9, 10, 22,
 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 31, and 33 in her Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion
 For Reconsideration And Amending Order Granting Defendant Simplicity's
 Petition For Fees And Costs For Opposing Frivolous Action.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1. Does unjust enrichment require proof that the plaintiff directly conferred a benefit on the defendant? (First and Second Assignments of Error)

2. Were Allyis' claims for violation of the Trade Secrets Act, injurious falsehood, and violation of the Consumer Protection Act frivolous and advanced without reasonable cause? (First Assignment of Error)

3. Did the Complaint violate RCW 4.84.185 or CR 11? (First and Second Assignments of Error)

Did the Amended Complaint violate RCW 4.84.185 or CR
 11? (First and Second Assignment of Error)

5. Did the trial court make the findings of fact required for an award of fees under RCW 4.84.185 or sanctions under CR 11? (First and Second Assignments of Error)

6. Was the request for CR 11 sanctions properly supported in the motion for fees? (Second Assignment of Error)

3

7. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in awarding attorney fees under RCW 4.84.185 and/or CR 11? (First and Second Assignments of Error)

8. Was the trial court authorized to award sanctions under CR
 11? (Second Assignment of Error)

9. Were Judge Hill's findings of fact supported by substantial evidence? (Third Assignment of Error)

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Because this appeal concerns sanctions for what transpired during the case, the factual and procedural facts are combined in a single statement.

Plaintiff Allyis, Inc. is in the business of providing contract workers to technology companies like Microsoft.¹ CP 450 at \P 2. On May 10, 2002, Allyis (then known as Essential Web Design & Consulting, Inc.) hired defendant Jeremy Schroder ("Schroder") as a Web Publisher for its OEM Publishing Team. CP 2 at \P 3.3. Schroder was continuously employed by Allyis for a dozen years. Verified Complaint at \P 3.17.

Shortly after he was hired, Schroder executed a Noncompetition Agreement dated July 23, 2002, in favor of Allyis (the "Noncompetition Agreement"). Id. at ¶ 3.4; CR 213-17. In the Noncompetition Agreement, Schroder agreed not to work for a competing company for five years after leaving Allyis, or to solicit Allyis employees for another company. CP 213. Schroder also executed a Confidentiality Agreement. CP 3 at ¶ 3.5.

Over the years, the work of Essential Web Design & Consulting evolved into providing contract workers to technology companies, including

¹ Allyis was originally formed as Essential Web Design & Consulting, Inc. and later changed its name to Allyis. Allyis and Essential are the same legal entity. CP 1 at \P 1.1.

Microsoft. CP 450 at \P 2. Along the way, Schroder was promoted to a management position. CP 4 at \P 3.9.

On May 7, 2014, Schroder abruptly left Allyis and began working for defendant Simplicity Consulting, Inc. CP 5 at ¶ 3.17. Simplicity is also in the business of providing contract workers to technology companies including Microsoft. CP 452 at ¶ 9. At least six Allyis employees left and also joined Simplicity immediately after Schroder did. *Id.*. When those employees joined Simplicity, their actual work did not change at all. *Id.* They continued to work on the same projects for the same client as they had for Allyis. *Id.* The only thing that changed was that Simplicity rather than Allyis was receiving the profit on the contracts. *Id.* Allyis also was told by its employees the Schroder solicited them to work for Simplicity as well. CP 453 at ¶ 11.

Allyis became very concerned about the potential for Schroder to systematically raid its employees. Schroder knew the terms of employment for Allyis employees, and it would be a simple matter to offer them slightly more since they were already working on projects. CP 451 at ¶ 7. On June 18, 2014, Allyis contacted Simplicity through its business attorney and simply demanded that "make no further efforts to induce Allyis employees to leave their employment." CP 218. It did not ask that Schroder stop working for Simplicity. *Id*.

Simplicity's response was a letter from an attorney representing both Simplicity and Schroder stating that "Mr. Schroder is not and does not intend to violate any enforceable terms of any prior employment agreement with your client." CP 219. The letter argued that the five-year duration and geographic reach of the agreement was unreasonable and questioned whether Allyis' information was confidential. *Id.*. It concluded that "My clients do not anticipate any of their activities will constitute a violation of any enforceable provision of Mr. Schroder's prior employment agreement." CP 220.

It would have been a simple matter for Simplicity to acknowledge the agreements and agree not to allow Schroder to breach the agreement for its benefit. After seeing Simplicity's response, Allyis decided that it was necessary to file a lawsuit. It knew that it had already lost six employees to Simplicity when Schroder left, and it was being told by its employees that they were being solicited as well. CP 542-53 at ¶ 9.

The original complaint asserted one claim against Schroder for breach of contract and four claims against Simplicity. The claims against Simplicity were tortious interference with contract, violation of the Trade Secrets Act, injurious falsehood, and violation of the Consumer Protection Act against Simplicity. CP 1-11.

Before filing the Complaint, Allyis verified the basis of its claims. Washington courts enforce compete agreements that are valid and reasonable. *Labriola v. Pollard Grp., Inc.*, 152 Wn.2d 828, 833, 100 P.3d 791, 793 (2004). The claim for tortious interference was approved *Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co. v. Whiteman Tire, Inc.*, 86 Wn. App. 732, 935 P.2d 628 (1997). The confidential employment terms were actively protect as a trade secret. The reported statements of Schroder, if proven, met the requirements for an injurious falsehood claim. The year before, the Supreme Court had clarified that a Consumer Protection Act claim could be based on conduct that was unfair but not deceptive. *Klem v. Washington Mut. Bank*, 176 Wn. 2d 771, 787, 295 P.3d 1179, 1187 (2013).

Attorney Jeff James ultimately appeared in the case for Simplicity. One of his earliest communications in the case was a December 18, 2014 email that begins: "It was nice meeting you on the phone yesterday; thanks for your message as well. From what I can tell, your client's lawsuit with respect to Simplicity is frivolous." CP 340. That email set the tone for everything that would follow.

Allyis served discovery requests on Simplicity, and it refused to produce documents on the grounds of confidentiality, but it did not seek a protective order. CP 45-46. On April 9, 2015, Davis sent a lengthy email to James seeking an agreed way forward on the confidentiality issues. CP 361-62. James responded by saying that "confidentiality of business information that is not the sole basis for our objections."

Allyis attempted to work with Simplicity to exchange the documents that were needed for the case without requiring either side to disclose confidential information. *E.g.*, CP 352-54. For example, in a May 11, 2015 email to James, Davis wrote:

I have already told you that I will limit my discovery to those employees and that I will agree to any reasonable protective order that you might want. Doesn't it make the most sense to focus our efforts on this small group of documents to answer the relevant questions? If you really have the proof that you say you do, then that would be the most efficient way to resolve this case.

CP 359. James responded to that in part by saying that "you continue to look for a global resolution instead of looking to dismiss my client and continue pursuing your client's claims against Mr. Schroeder." CP 358.

Davis then sent James a list of every Allyis employee who had left during the relevant time and asking if Simplicity would identify those who had become its employees to focus discovery and the case. CP 352-54. James responded to that request by saying, "Regarding your request below to "exchange some information," I fail to see the relevance of your request." CP 352.

After Allyis was informed that Schroder was fired by Simplicity, the case lost a lot of urgency. It appeared that the harm would be limited to the six employees who followed Schroder to Simplicity. On June 22, 2015, Davis took the CR 30(b)(6) deposition of Simplicity. Because of the reduced scope of the case, Davis kept the deposition very short, and the entire transcript is twenty-six pages. CP 192-93.

Although the deposition was short, Simplicity made the admissions that were sought. First Simplicity admitted that Schroder showed Simplicity the noncompete agreement before he was hired, but it could not make up its mind whether it was signed or not.

- Q. Did the subject of whether Mr. Schroder had a non-compete agreement ever come up in the interviews before he was offered employment?
- A. Yes.
- Q. To your knowledge, how did that happen?
- A. The first time I heard about his non-compete was at the end of our in-person interview on April 10, 2014.
 I found the date. He told me that he didn't think he had a non-compete and then he changed his mind and showed me a document that was part of an employee manual for a company under a different name.
- Q. But he told you that he did not have a separate non-compete agreement that he had signed?
- A. Originally he said he didn't and then he said well, actually, I have this document, but it's part of this employee manual. He showed it to me. It wasn't signed and that was the first I heard about any kind of non-compete.
- Q. What did you do after that with respect to the potential that he had a non-compete agreement?
- A. Well, I looked at the non-compete and it was under a different company name. It was signed by him when he was a contractor, not an account manager. It wasn't signed.

CP 465-66. The noncompete agreement may have been taken from the

handbook, but it was a standalone agreement. CP 457-61.

Second, Simplicity admitted that Schroder solicited Allyis employees while working for Simplicity with Simplicity's approval.

- Q. To your knowledge, did Mr. Schroder while he was employed by Simplicity contact the people that he worked with at Allyis for the purpose of recruiting them to Simplicity?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And were you aware of that when it happened?
- A. In one instance, yes.
- Q. Was that considered a good thing, a bad thing or a neutral thing that he did that?
- A. It was neutral because that person's contract was ending and she was looking for new work.
- Q. Did Mr. Schroder receive any additional compensation or bonus because he brought someone new in?
- A. No.
- Q. Was his compensation a salary or was it dependent upon his book of business?
- A. He had salary plus bonus potential.
- Q. So how was it that you knew that Mr. Schroder was making contact with someone that he knew because of his relationship at Allyis?
- A. He told me about one instance where this woman We had had a client meeting and the client needed a specific skill set. It was a current Simplicity client and he told me about someone he knew that had that skill set and she was looking for a new role because her's was ending on June 30th of 2014.
- Q. So did you have Mr. Schroder contact that person about the possibility of --
- A. I didn't have him do anything. He did it on his own.
- Q. Well, if he told you he knew somebody who was perfect for the position -- He hadn't contacted them about this position yet obviously?
- A. Right.
- Q. So did he have any direction from you one way or the other as to what to do or did you just say oh, that's interesting?
- A. I basically said oh, okay. Great.

CP 469-70.

Simplicity filed a Motion to Compel on July 9, 2015, complaining that Allyis had not produced documents even though Simplicity had refused to produce its own documents. CP 45-46. By this time, Allyis' focus had changed from trying to stop what appeared to be a significant threat into looking for a reasonable means to resolve a business dispute. Allyis did not oppose the motion in an effort to keep the cost of the lawsuit as low as possible for both sides. However, Simplicity refused to discuss any compromise. It steadfastly maintained that the lawsuit was frivolous.

Making matters worse, because of a scheduling error, two representatives of Allyis failed to appear for their depositions on July 23, 2015. Instead of rescheduling the depositions, Simplicity brought a Motion for Sanctions and Contempt. CP 110-15. The motion did not even attempt to compel the depositions to take place. *Id.* Judge Hill granted the motion and awarded \$5,900 of terms over two depositions. CP 236-37. Her order does not require the witnesses to be produced for their depositions. *Id.*

On August 7, 2015, Simplicity filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, noted for September 7, 2015. CP 146-55. Judge Hill's order on the Motion for Fees and Contempt was entered on August 14, 2016, and Simplicity concluded that there was no reason to proceed with its claims before Judge Hill. CP 236-37.

On September 3, 2016, Allyis filed a motion to dismiss its claims without prejudice under CR 41(a)(1)(B). Simplicity objected to the motion with its own request that the dismissal be made with prejudice. CP 262-70. In its motion, Simplicity asserted that the Court should dismiss the claims with prejudice because of the discovery issues in the case. CP 268. The parties briefed that issue, and Judge Hill granted Simplicity's request. CP 316-18. Allyis has not appealed the order.

On October 1, 2015, Simplicity filed the Motion for Fees that is the subject of this appeal. CP 319-26. The motion is six pages long and

supported by the Declaration of James. *Id.* The James Declaration is cited in the motion only to support the assertion that he told Allyis that the claims in the case were frivolous, and its claim that Allyis dismissed its original claims in response, as well as to support the amount requested. CP 320, 322, 323.

The Statement of Facts in the motion consists of three paragraphs. CP 319-20. The first simply states that the trial court was familiar with the facts and refers to Simplicity's motion for Fees and Contempt. CP 319. The second states that James told Allyis that its claims were frivolous and is offered as proof that they were. CP 320. The third alleges the amount of fees that Simplicity incurred in the action. *Id*.

The motion for fees and contempt to which Simplicity refers in the first paragraph is discussed above. CP 110-15. That motion concerned the trial court's July 15, 2015 Order Compelling Discovery and the depositions. CP 111. The only authorities cited in that motion were CR 26(i) and 37(d). CP 113.

Simplicity sought an award of fees under RCW 4.84.185. Simplicity quoted the statute and cited *Escude v. King County Pub. Hosp. Dist.*, 117 Wn. App. 183, 192, 69 P.3d 895 (2003) for the proposition that an award of fees after a voluntary dismissal is "within the discretion of the trial court." However, Simplicity did not discuss the standards for awarding fees under RCW 4.84.185. Simplicity also requested CR 11 sanctions in the alternative, but it did not discuss the standards for those decisions either.

The motion contained two substantive arguments; First, Simplicity argued that Allyis admitted that its original claims were frivolous by amending the Complaint to replace them with a claim for unjust enrichment; and second, Simplicity argued that the unjust enrichment claim itself was frivolous.

Simplicity's primary focus was the unjust enrichment claim. According to Simplicity, in *Young v. Young*, 164 Wn.2d 477, 191 P.3d 1258, 1262 (2008), the Supreme Court held that unjust enrichment requires the plaintiff to directly confer a benefit on the defendant.

To establish a claim for unjust enrichment, Allyis would have to prove three elements: (1) a benefit conferred upon the defendant *by the plaintiff;* (2) knowledge by the defendant of the benefit; and (3) the acceptance or retention of the benefit under such circumstances that it would be inequitable for the defendant to retain the benefit without the payment of its value. *Young v. Young,* 164 Wn.2d 477, 484, 191 P.3d 1258 (2007) (emphasis added). Since *Young,* courts have consistently required *the plaintiff* to confer the alleged benefit on the defendant.

CP 322-23 (emphasis in original). Simplicity apparently believed that italicizing the word "plaintiff" would demonstrate the court's intention to impose that requirement.

Simplicity also included a request for sanctions under CR 11 at the end of its motion. That section of the motion consists of a single sentence and is so short that it can be quoted in full here:

c. Alternatively, the Court Should Award Sanctions Under CR 11.

In the event Allyis responds by attempting to blame its counsel for pursuing a frivolous claim, or Allyis' counsel, on his own, accepts responsibility for pursuing a frivolous claim, the Court should exercise its discretion and award Simplicity its fees and costs against Allyis and its counsel, jointly and severally, as sanctions under CR 11. *See, e.g., Escude*, 117 Wn. App. at 193-94.

CP 324. That is literally Simplicity's entire submission to the Court in support of its request for CR 11 sanctions.

In its response, Allyis presented a detailed explanation of the facts

including Simplicity's deposition admission that Schroder had solicited its

employees while working for Simplicity with Simplicity's knowledge and consent. CP 425-28. It disputed the assertion about Allyis admitting that its claims were frivolous with a declaration and the email announcing the amended complaint. CP 431-32.

With regard to the unjust enrichment claim, Allyis argued that Simplicity was wrong the holding in *Young*, and pointed out that the *Young* court itself described that element as "the received benefit is at the plaintiff's expense" in the same opinion. CP 432-33. Allyis also identified many Washington unjust enrichment cases since *Young* that did not require the plaintiff to confer a benefit directly on the defendant. CP 432-33.

In its reply, Simplicity argued that "Allyis Has Failed to Show Reasonable Cause for Advancing This Lawsuit" and "Mr. Davis Has Failed to Show That the Claims Asserted Against Simplicity Were Well Grounded in Fact/Were Not Interposed for an Improper Purpose/" CP 471-72. Simplicity argued that Allyis and Davis had the burden to prove that the claims were not frivolous. Simplicity also argued that the declarations submitted by Allyis were inadmissible hearsay and opinion, but did not explain that assertion, nor did it file a motion to strike.

With regard to unjust enrichment, Simplicity took issue with the other post-*Young* cases cited in the response, but completely ignored the fact that Young itself stated the element as a "benefit received at the plaintiff's expense." Simplicity just disregarded the fact that *Young* itself does not say what Simplicity claims it does.

Simplicity provided no reply at all to Allyis' argument that RCW 4.84.185 requires a finding that all of the claims asserted were frivolous. Not once in any of its briefing in this action did Simplicity address the

claims for tortious interference with contract, violation of the Trade Secrets Act, injurious falsehood, and violation of the Consumer Protection Act. The only thing that it ever said about those claims was that they were frivolous because James said they were.

It likewise provided no reply on CR 11 except to state that the basis was three discovery matters and the primary witness list. No actual conduct was identified except for the statement that "The attempt to blame staff for failing to timely serve Plaintiff's Possible Primary Witnesses, and the attempt to avoid dismissal with prejudice claiming the nonexistence of staff created a hardship."

Judge Hill granted Simplicity's motion and awarded \$58,758.95 of sanctions. CP 478-82. She simply signed the proposed order without making any changes, and it tracks the motion. CP 480 at ¶ 10. It finds that this action was frivolous because James said it was. CP 479 at ¶ 4. It finds that "Allyis' unjust enrichment claim was advanced without reasonable cause because Allyis was well aware that it never conferred any benefit on Simplicity." CP 479-80 at ¶ 7. None of the evidence and authorities submitted by Allyis are mentioned.

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