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

IV. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of Review.  

Under RCW 4.84.185, “[i]n any civil action, a court may award 

attorney fees if the action was ‘frivolous and advanced without reasonable 

cause.’” In re Recall Charges Against Lindquist, 172 Wn.2d 120, 136, 258 

P.3d 9 (2011) (quoting RCW 4.84.185). “The purpose of RCW 4.84.185 is 

to discourage abuse of the legal system by providing for award of expenses 

and legal fees to any party forced to defend itself against meritless claims 

asserted for the purposes of harassment, delay, nuisance, or spite.”  Ahmad 

v. Town of Springdale, 178 Wn. App. 333, 343, 314 P.3d 729, 733 (2013).   

Under CR 11, any party or attorney who signs a pleading certifies 

that the pleading is: (1) well grounded in fact; (2) warranted by law; and (3) 

not interposed for any improper purpose “to the best of the party’s or 

attorney’s knowledge, information, and belief, formed after an inquiry 

reasonable under the circumstances.”  CR 11(a).  The court may impose 

sanctions, including payment of the reasonable attorney’s fees incurred due 

to the filing upon any party or attorney who signs a pleading in violation of 

this rule.  Id.  As with RCW 4.84.185, the purpose of sanctions under CR 

11 “is to deter baseless filings and to curb abuses of the judicial system.”  

Biggs v. Vail, 124 Wn.2d 193, 197, 876 P.2d 448, 451 (1994). 
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The Court reviews an award of attorney’s fees under RCW 4.84.185 

and/or CR 11 for an abuse of discretion.14  State ex rel. Quick-Ruben v. 

Verharen, 136 Wn.2d 888, 903, 969 P.2d 64, 70 (1998) (“[T]he appropriate 

standard of review regarding sanctions under the statute or rule is abuse of 

discretion.”).  The trial court does not abuse its discretion unless “its 

exercise is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or 

reasons.”  Ermine v. Spokane, 143 Wn.2d 636, 641, 23 P.3d 492, 494-95 

(2001).  A decision is based “‘on untenable grounds’” or made “‘for 

untenable reasons’” if it rests on facts unsupported in the record or if it was 

reached by applying the wrong legal standard.  State v. Dixon, 159 Wn.2d 

65, 76, 147 P.3d 991 (2006) (quoting State v. Rohrich, 149 Wn.2d 647, 654, 

71 P.3d 638 (2003)).  Reversal is not appropriate unless no judge acting 

                                            
14 Allyis concedes that abuse of discretion is the appropriate standard of review 
with regard to sanction awards under RCW 4.84.185 and CR 11, yet it erroneously 
asserts that this Court should apply a de novo standard of review to the trial court’s 
legal conclusions upon which it bases such awards.  See Appellant’s Brief, at 21.  
Notably, none of the cases upon which Allyis relies for this proposition concern 
sanction awards under RCW 4.84.185 or CR 11.  See id. (citing Kelley v. 
Centennial Contractors Enterprises, Inc., 169 Wn.2d 381, 386, 236 P.3d 197, 199 
(2010) (“An order granting summary judgment is reviewed de novo”); Gildon v. 
Simon Prop. Grp., Inc., 158 Wn.2d 483, 493, 145 P.3d 1196, 1201 (2006) (legal 
conclusions in order granting motion to dismiss under CR 12(b)(7) for failure to 
join an indispensable party under CR 19 are reviewed de novo).  Instead, it is well 
established under Washington law that this Court reviews an award of attorney’s 
fees under RCW 4.84.185 and/or CR 11 for an abuse of discretion.  See, e.g., 
Verharen, 136 Wn.2d at 903.   
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reasonably would have reached the same conclusion.  Sofie v. Fibreboard 

Corp., 112 Wn.2d 636, 667, 771 P.2d 711 (1989). 

A frivolous action is “one that cannot be supported by any rational 

argument on the law or the facts.”  Clarke v. Equinox Holdings, 56 Wn. 

App. 125, 132, 783 P.2d 82, 86 (1989).  An action involving multiple parties 

may be frivolous as to one party, but not frivolous as to another.  Eller v. E. 

Sprague Motors & R.V.'s, Inc., 159 Wn. App. 180, 194, 244 P.3d 447, 454 

(2010).  

B. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion in Awarding 
Simplicity its Fees and Costs under RCW 4.84.185 and CR 11. 

Allyis fails to show that the trial court’s decision to award attorney’s 

fees to Simplicity under either RCW 4.84.185 or CR 11 was “manifestly 

unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or reasons.”  Ermine, 143 

Wn.2d at 641.  The record before this Court clearly reflects that Allyis’ 

asserted claims had no basis in fact and were not supported by existing law.  

The trial court’s written findings in support of its ruling—as set forth in the 

Amended Order—are well supported by record evidence and reasonable 

inferences therefrom, including Davis’ and Allyis’ egregious conduct and 

litigation tactics throughout the case.15   

                                            
15 See, e.g., CP 554 (“In light of the facts and circumstances of the entire case, the claims 
asserted by Allyis were frivolous and not advanced with reasonable cause.”)   
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Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in granting 

Simplicity’s Fee Petition and in awarding Simplicity its fees reasonably 

incurred in defending against Allyis’ frivolous claims. 

1. Allyis’ Asserted Claims Against Simplicity Are Not 
Supported by Fact or Existing Law.   

a. Allyis’ Initial Four Claims Asserted in the 
Verified Complaint.  

  
As described above, Allyis initially asserted four claims against 

Simplicity for:  (1) tortious interference with a contractual relationship; (2) 

violation of the Washington CPA; (3) injurious falsehood; and (4) violation 

of the UTSA.  (CP 1-11)  All of Allyis’ asserted claims relied upon the 

existence of a legally binding noncompetition and/or confidentiality 

agreement between Allyis and Schroder.16  

Each of the purported “agreements,” however, were contained 

solely within the EWD Employee Handbook, which clearly disclaimed that 

anything within the handbook constituted a contract between EWD and any 

of its employees.  (CP 457-461)  Further, there is no evidence that 

Simplicity, through Schroder, solicited Allyis’ clients and/or utilized Allyis’ 

confidential propriety information to benefit Simplicity.  As an initial 

matter, Simplicity and Allyis are not competitors.  (CP 466)  Although 

                                            
16 CP 5-6 (alleging that Schroder and Simplicity solicited Allyis’ clients  and utilized 
Allyis’ confidential information to benefit Simplicity) 
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Schroder was not responsible for developing new business or recruiting 

persons to join Simplicity, Simplicity nonetheless required Schroder to sign 

agreement representing that he did not possess any confidential or 

proprietary information belonging to Allyis, and that he would not utilize 

any confidential information he was exposed to while employed by Allyis.  

(CP 194-196, 205-206)  Notably, Allyis neither alleged nor produced any 

evidence suggesting that Schroder had done so.17  

 Based on the above, James repeatedly advised Davis that the 

asserted claims were frivolous (See, e.g., CP 334-340)  Allyis ultimately 

withdrew all four claims, implicitly conceding that they lacked merit—as 

James had repeatedly explained—and were not advanced in good faith, as 

the trial court reasonably concluded.  See infra.     

b. Allyis’ Unjust Enrichment Claim.  

 To state a claim for unjust enrichment, a party must prove three 

elements: (1) a benefit conferred upon the defendant by the plaintiff; (2) 

knowledge by the defendant of the benefit; and (3) acceptance or retention 

of the benefit under such circumstances that it would be inequitable for the 

defendant to retain the benefit without payment of its value.  Young v. 

                                            
17  As discussed below, Davis and Allyis argue that the deposition excerpt is evidence that 
Schroder engaged in misconduct.  They are wrong, but additionally, Allyis did not have 
that testimony at the time it asserted the original four claims and, thus, either relied on 
different evidence or no evidence at all.  
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Young, 164 Wn.2d 477, 484, 191 P.3d 1258 (2007).  Though Allyis focuses 

its argument here on the first element, Allyis failed to produce evidence to 

support a rational argument that it could meet any of the three elements.   

i. Washington Law Requires Allyis to Prove that it 
Conferred a Benefit Upon Simplicity, Either 
Directly or Indirectly. 

While Allyis argues that Young does not establish that a benefit 

must be conferred upon the defendant by the plaintiff, opinions by the Court 

of Appeals of the State of Washington have clarified this element in the time 

since Young was decided.18  In Nat’l Sur. Corp. v. Immunex Corp., 162 

Wn. App. 762, 256 P.3d 439 (2011), this Division of the Washington State 

Court of Appeals cited Young for the proposition that “[t]o establish a 

theory of unjust enrichment, a party must show a benefit conferred upon the 

defendant by the plaintiff.”  Immunex Corp., 162 Wn. App. at 778 n.11 

                                            
18 Courts in other jurisdictions similarly require a plaintiff conferred benefit.  See, 
e.g., Men Women NY Model Mgt., Inc. v. Ford Models, Inc., 938 N.Y.S.2d 228, 
228 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 2011) (dismissing unjust enrichment claim predicated on hiring 
competitor’s employees because “plaintiff must allege that it conferred a benefit 
upon defendant”); Pixler v. Huff, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 133185, at *31 (W.D. 
Ky. Nov. 16, 2011) (“Kentucky courts have consistently found that the first 
element [of an unjust enrichment claim] not only requires a benefit be conferred 
upon the defendant, but also that the plaintiff be the party conferring that benefit.”); 
Johnson v. Microsoft Corp., 106 Ohio St. 3d 278, 286, 834 N.E.2d 791, 799 (Ohio 
2005) (affirming dismissal of unjust enrichment claim where lack of evidence of a 
relationship between plaintiff and defendant was insufficient to state claim for 
unjust enrichment because plaintiff must demonstrate “a benefit conferred by 
plaintiff upon a defendant”).  Copies of these cited opinions are attached hereto as 
Appendix A. 
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(emphasis added).  An opinion issued by Division II of the Court of Appeals 

likewise cites Young for the proposition that the first element of an unjust 

enrichment claim is “a plaintiff conferred a benefit upon the defendant.”  

Austin v. Ettl, 171 Wn. App. 82, 92, 286 P.3d 85 (2012) (emphasis added).  

Contrary to Allyis’ contention, these are not mere restatements of a 

dictionary definition.19  That the plaintiff must confer the unjustly retained 

benefit is Washington law, as affirmed by Immunex Corp. and Austin.   

Allyis’ description of Bailie Commc’ns., Ltd. v. Trend Bus. Sys., 

Inc., 53 Wn. App. 77, 765 P.2d 339 (1988) is inaccurate.  In that case the 

plaintiff did confer a benefit on the defendant and thus Bailie supports 

Simplicity here. In Bailie, the defendant corporation’s sole shareholder, 

Wosepka, fraudulently induced the plaintiffs to cosign a mortgage by 

promising to pay the plaintiffs $175,000 from the mortgage proceeds.  Id. 

at 78-79.  Wosepka then “infused” the plaintiff’s portion of the proceeds 

into the defendant corporation, resulting in a finding by the court that the 

defendant had been unjustly enriched.  Id. at 79, 85.  Thus, the facts are 

inapposite to Allyis’ assertion here where the plaintiffs in Bailie conferred 

the benefit upon both Wosepka and the defendant by cosigning the loan.  

That the plaintiffs did not intend to confer the benefit upon either Wosepka 

                                            
19 See Appellant’s Brief, at 25-26.   
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or the defendant was not material.  It was the plaintiffs’ act of cosigning the 

loan that conferred the benefit.  Id.   

Likewise, Allyis’ reliance on Keithly v. Intelius Inc., 764 F. Supp. 

2d 1257 (W.D. Wash. 2011), is misplaced, again because Allyis 

inaccurately describes the opinion.20  In Intelius, the defendant—an online 

information service that provided identity-related services—had provided 

services to plaintiffs as its customers.  Id. at 1262-63.  After plaintiffs 

purchased services from the defendant and entered their payment 

information into defendant’s website, the defendant gave them the option to 

try a free “Family Safety Report” trial membership.  Id. at 1264-65.  A third 

party, Adaptive Marketing, provided the “Family Safety Report” service, 

but the defendant did not identify Adaptive Marketing in its offer.  Id.  For 

each customer who accepted the free trial membership, the defendant 

received revenue from Adaptive Marketing.  Id. at 1265.  The class action 

plaintiffs alleged that they unknowingly enrolled in the free trial period, 

were charged for the “Family Safety Report” when they did not cancel the 

free trial period, and were then unable to obtain refunds from either the 

defendant or Adaptive Marketing.  Id.   

                                            
20 See Appellant’s Brief, at 26-27.   
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The plaintiffs further alleged that the defendant obtained revenue 

“either directly through the plaintiffs: or indirectly through Adaptive 

Marketing.”  Id. at 1271 (emphasis added).  In either scenario, however, it 

was plaintiffs who conferred the benefit by signing up for the free trial 

membership, albeit unintentionally.  Significantly, the plaintiffs interacted 

only with the defendant in signing up for the free trial membership, and the 

defendant benefited as a result.  See id., at 1263-65.  Contrary to Allyis’ 

assertion, the district court did not hold that the plaintiff need not confer the 

benefit in order to succeed on an unjust enrichment claim.  See Appellant’s 

Brief, at 27.  Rather, the Court opined, in dictum, that the benefit need not 

be “directly” conferred by the plaintiff. 21  Id. at 1271 n.11.   

Regardless, Allyis’ argument is a red herring:  Allyis presented no 

evidence in more than 10 months of litigation to show that it conferred any 

benefit upon Simplicity, directly or indirectly.22  Even in its brief to this 

                                            
21 The district court’s description of Young in footnote 14 is confusing at best when it 
states: “The Supreme Court’s own statement of the elements of an unjust enrichment claim 
does not include reference to ‘by the plaintiff.’”  Id., at 1272, n. 14 (citing Young, 164 Wn. 
2d at 484-85).  The only time the Court in Young expressly cites the elements of a claim 
based on unjust enrichment is when it quotes from Bailie.  It then goes on to quote “the 
elements of a contract implied in law,” which is a slightly different formulation of 
elements.  See Young, 164 Wn. 2d at 484-85.  Significantly, this Court has repeatedly cited 
to the portion of Young quoting Baille when reciting the elements of an unjust enrichment 
claim.  See supra. 
22 Notably, Simplicity never argued that a plaintiff must directly confer the benefit at issue, 
and Allyis never produced any evidence that it conferred any benefit on Simplicity, directly 
or indirectly.   
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Court, Allyis argues over the correct reading of Young but fails to point to 

any evidence in the record whatsoever to support a claim under its theory.   

ii. Allyis Failed to Produce any Evidence That 
Simplicity Had Knowledge of or Retained any 
Benefit Under Unjust Circumstances.  

Allyis also failed to produce any evidence that Simplicity had any 

knowledge of or retained any benefit under such circumstances that it would 

be inequitable for the defendant to retain the benefit without payment of its 

value.23  See Young, 164 Wn.2d at 484.  Simplicity was free to hire any 

person it chose to hire, and there is nothing in the record, nor any law cited 

by Allyis, suggesting otherwise. 

Allyis appears to argue that by the mere fact that a former Allyis 

employee (Schroder) worked for Simplicity, Simplicity’s profits should be 

shared with Allyis if Simplicity hires former Allyis employees.24  To 

suggest that a company cannot conduct its business by employing those who 

have previously worked for other non-competitor employers is patently 

frivolous.  There is no competent evidence in the record to suggest that 

Simplicity even hired any Allyis employee who had been solicited by 

                                            
23 Simplicity addresses both the second and third element of a successful unjust enrichment 
claim under Young simultaneously as they are closely intertwined.   
24 Though Allyis never specifically identified the benefit that it claimed Simplicity unjustly 
received, that alleged benefit is presumably in the form of profits from Simplicity’s 
contracts at Microsoft.  (See CP 36)  Yet Allyis never produced any evidence to show that 
it had a non-frivolous basis for claiming that any of Simplicity’s profits were unjustly 
obtained.   
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Schroder.25  Contrary to Allyis’ assertion, that the Complaint was “verified” 

by the Mann Declaration provides no evidentiary support whatsoever for 

Allyis’ claims where both the Complaint itself, as well as the Mann 

Declaration, contain only conclusory allegations, not any competent 

evidence, and Mann failed to appear for a properly noted deposition where

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